NO. 2017AP002367-CR

RECEIVED

02-16-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent.

v.

KEITH A. WALL,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From the Circuit Court for Columbia County Case No. 2013CT000125, The Honorable Judge Todd J. Hepler

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT KEITH A. WALL

WILLIAM F. SULTON, ESQ. State Bar No. 1070600

VON BRIESEN & ROPER, S.C. Suite 1000 E Wisconsin Avenue Milwaukee, WI 53202 Phone: 414-221-6639

Fax: 414-249-2626

Email: wsulton@vonbriesen.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the circuit court erred in concluding that, under the Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, the evidence obtained from a warrantless blood draw contrary to the holding in *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. ____, 133 S. Ct. 1552 (2013), should not be excluded because the law enforcement officers acted in good faith reliance on prior case law.

Answered no by the circuit court.

2. Whether the circuit court erred in concluding that, under the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, the evidence obtained from a violent police encounter should not be excluded under the Due Process Clause and *Rochin v. California*, 342 U.S. 165 (1952).

Answered no by the circuit court.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Defendant-Appellant Keith A. Wall does not request oral argument.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

This Court's opinion should be published pursuant to Wis. Stat. §§ 809.23(1)(a)2. and 4.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts

On March 22, 2013, Deputy Cory Miller ("Deputy Miller") of the Columbia County Sheriff's Office arrested Defendant-Appellant Keith A. Wall ("Wall") on suspicion of operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated. (R. 75 at 5:23-6:3.) Deputy Miller transported Wall to Divine Savior Hospital located in Portage, Wisconsin. (*Id.*, 7:2-4.) Wall complied with Deputy Miller's instruction to enter the hospital. (*Id.*, 70:3-22.) Wall complied with Deputy Miller's instruction to sit in a restraint chair. (*Id.*, 11:24-3, 13:8-13, 70:3-22.)

Deputy Miller asked Wall to submit to a chemical test of his blood, i.e., a blood draw. (*Id.*, 8:1-3, 58:17-59:7) Wall did not consent to the blood draw because he fears needles. (*Id.*, 8:1-7, 25:6-8, 39:19-22, 58-17-59:7.) Deputy Miller read a form entitled "Informing the Accused" to Wall. (*Id.*, 19:19-25, 29:13-5, 59:8-12.) The "Informing the Accused" form does not state that law enforcement will forcibly take blood upon a refusal to a blood draw. (*Id.*, 20:1-4.) Deputy Miller made the decision to forcibly take blood from Wall solely because Wall had been previously convicted of operating while intoxicated. (*Id.*, 20:9-24, 22:5-23:2.)

Officer Robert Bagnall ("Officer Bagnall") of the City of Portage Police Department was dispatched to the hospital to assist with the blood draw. (*Id.*, 28:6-9.) Officer Bagnall made the decision to apply a "mandibular compliance hold" on Wall's head. (*Id.*, 31:21-32:10.) In applying the "mandibular"

compliance hold" Officer Bagnall pulled on Wall's chin using the weight of his body to secure Wall's head. (*Id.*, 41:3-7, 20-24.) Officer Bagnall described the "mandibular compliance hold" in the following testimony:

- Q: Sure, I just want to slow that down a little bit. Are you telling me you applied the pressure and your left arm at the same time or did you apply the left arm first and then the pressure?
- A: Well, you can't do it at the same time because you have to get the head stabilized and you have to lean into it. So you are using your other hand to assist in that. Then when you're going forward and pushing down, then of course that's when the application is made.

(*Id.*, 42:8-17.)

While Officer Bagnall was applying the "mandibular compliance hold," Wall was fully restrained in a chair. (*Id.*, 41:13-15, 61:20-61:7, 63:6-9.) Officer Bagnall applied the "mandibular compliance hold" on Wall for at least a minute and half, even though Wall presented his arm "immediately." (*Id.*, 33:16-34:2, 53:14-16.) The pain Wall experienced was "excruciating." (*Id.*, 62:13-63:5) Officer Bagnall intentionally caused pain to Wall. (*Id.*, 23:6-25, 32:22-33:5.)

The "mandibular compliance hold" does not cause bleeding. (*Id.*, 47:21-25.) Thus Officer Bagnall caused Wall's ear to bleed by either misapplying the "mandibular compliance hold" or using some other technique. (*Id.*, 63:16-18.) Wall received treatment and care from Dr. Robert S. Waters ("Dr. Waters") of Waters Integrative Health Center as a result of the injuries he sustained from law enforcement officers. (*Id.*, 63:19-64:3)

B. Procedural History

Wall filed a motion to suppress the blood evidence under the Fourth and Fifth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution. (R. 8.) The circuit court held an evidentiary hearing on November 11, 2013. (R. 74.) The circuit court delivered an oral ruling denying Wall's motion on December 3, 2013. (R. 76.) The circuit court subsequently entered an order denying the motion on December 4, 2013. (R. 10.) Wall later entered a conditional plea of guilty and the circuit court entered a judgment of conviction on May 24, 2017. (R. 61; R. 84.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court evaluates the circuit court's findings of fact under a clearly ¶19, standard. State Knapp, 2005 WI 127, erroneous v. 285Wis. 2d 86, 700 N.W.2d 899. The application of constitutional principles to the of law that reviewed facts, however, is question is de a novo. State v. Horngren, 2000 WI App 177, ¶7, 238 Wis. 2d 347, 617 N.W.2d 508.

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred when it concluded that the exclusionary rule should not be applied to the blood draw in Wall's case.

The Fourth Amendment protects people "against unreasonable searches and seizures" and requires a warrant based "upon probable cause" before the government can search or seize, "persons, houses, papers, and effects." U.S. Const. amend. IV; see also Wis. Const. art. I §11. Thus, a warrantless search is per se unreasonable unless it falls within a recognized exception. *McNeely*, 133 S. Ct. 1552, 1558 (2013). Exigent circumstances justify a warrantless, nonconsensual search only if "police action literally must be 'now or never' to preserve the evidence of the crime." *Roaden v. Kentucky*, 413 U.S. 496, 505 (1973). In *McNeely*, the U.S. Supreme Court concluded that "the State did not meet its burden of demonstrating an exigent circumstance existed," 133 S. Ct. at 1567-68, when it ordered a warrantless, nonconsensual blood draw because the State did not believe it needed a warrant. The facts of this case are similar and, therefore, the blood evidence should be suppressed.

The circuit court reasoned that the officers were relying on *State v. Bohling*, 173 Wis. 2d 529, 494 N.W.2d 399 (1992). (R. 76 at 3-4.) In *Bohling*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court created a per se rule that exigency exists in every drunk-driving case because alcohol rapidly dissipates in the bloodstream. 173 Wis. 2d at 539, 494 N.W.2d at 402. A decade later, however, *State v. Faust*, 2004 WI 99, ¶33 n. 16, 274 Wis. 2d 183, 682 N.W.2d 371 (2004), modified the holding

Bohling: "[W]e reiterate that the reasonableness of a warrantless nonconsensual test [for blood alcohol content] . . . will depend upon the totality of the circumstances of each individual case." See also id. at ¶32 ("There may well be circumstances where the police have obtained sufficient evidence of the defendant's level of intoxication that a further test would be unreasonable under the circumstances presented."). As such, since Faust Wisconsin courts had been required to look at the totality of the circumstances when determining whether warrantless, nonconsensual blood draws supported by exigent are circumstances. See also Birchfield v. North Dakota, 136 S. Ct. 2160, 2185 (2016) ("Because breath tests are significantly less intrusive than blood tests and in most cases amply serve law enforcement interests, we conclude that a breath test, but not a blood test, may be administered as a search incident to a lawful arrest for drunk driving. As in all cases involving reasonable searches incident to arrest, a warrant is not needed in this situation.").

The facts of this case show that the forced blood draw was unreasonable under *Faust*. Prior to forcibly taking Wall's blood, Deputy Miller had obtained evidence of Wall's alleged impairment through various field sobriety tests and a breath test. (*Id.*, 18:13-24.); see *Faust*, 2004 WI 99, ¶32 (further testing may be unreasonable); *Birchfield*, 136 S. Ct. 2160, 2185 ("breath tests are significantly less intrusive than blood tests and in most cases amply serve law enforcement interests...").

Deputy Miller informed Wall that it was unlawful for him to refuse a request for a chemical test of his blood. (R. 75 at 19:19-25.) Wis. Stat. §§ 343.305(9) and (10) were enacted specifically to make some refusals unlawful. Neither of those sections permit the use of force that Wall was subjected to. Indeed, the language of those statutes acknowledge that there are circumstances under which a person may properly refuse a request for a chemical test. And, naturally, those sections provide punishments those that refuse. Importantly, nowhere in § 343.305(4)—which states the language that must be read to a suspect—does it state that blood will be forcibly taken upon refusal.

Additionally, the officers were aware that Wall's reluctance was caused by his fear of needles. (R. 75 at 8:1-7, 25:6-8, 39:19-22, 58:17-59:7.) Despite his fear of needles, and the knowledge that the officers wanted a blood specimen, Wall complied with Deputy Miller's instructions to enter the hospital and to sit in the restraint chair. (*Id.*, 11:24-3, 13:8-13, 70:3-22.) Wall was not resisting: he was scared. (*Id.*, 60:25-61:12, 61:20-62:23.)

The decision to forcibly take Wall's blood was unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment and should be suppressed accordingly.

II. The circuit court erred when it concluded that the blood draw did not violate Wall's due process rights.

The Due Process Clause requires suppression of the physical evidence obtained without valid consent from Wall's body. Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702, 720 (1997) ("[I]n addition to the specific freedoms protected by the Bill of Rights, the 'liberty' specially protected by the Due Process Clause includes the right[] . . . to bodily integrity."). The U.S. Supreme Court has recognized that substantive due process may be violated by a "cognizable level of executive abuse of power." See County of Sacramento v. Lewis, 523 U.S. 833, 846 (1998). For a due process claim, "there is no meaningful distinction between physical and psychological harm." United States v. Cuervelo, 949 F.2d 559, 565 (2d Cir. 1991) (citing United States v. Chin. 934 F.2d 393, 399 n.4 (2d Cir. 1991)). While the Court has "defined the category of infractions that violate 'fundamental fairness' very narrowly," the law prohibits an abuse of police power that offends "the community's sense of fair play and decency." Dowling v. United States, 493 U.S. 342, 352-53 (1990).

It is for this reason that involuntary confessions, even if obtained by means of police coercion that is only psychological in nature, is inadmissible for any purpose. Indeed, the Supreme Court "mandate[s] the exclusion of reliable and probative evidence for *all* purposes . . . when it is derived from involuntary statements." *Michigan v. Harvey*, 494 U.S. 344, 351 (1990) (citing *New Jersey v. Portash*, 440 U.S. 450,459 (1979) (holding compelled incriminating statements

inadmissible for impeachment purposes)). As the U.S. Supreme Court explained in Watkins v. Sowders, 449 U.S. 341 (1981), "while an involuntary confession is inadmissible in part because such a confession is likely to be unreliable, it is also inadmissible even if it is true, because of the 'strongly felt attitude of our society that important human values are sacrificed where an agency of the government, in the course of securing a conviction, wrings a confession out of an accused against his will." Id. at 347 (quoting Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 386 (1964)).

If the blood extracted from Wall's body is analogized to involuntary statements, they would be inadmissible against Wall even if highly probative of his guilt. As *Rochin v. California*, 342 U.S. 165 (1952), observed:

To attempt in this case to distinguish what lawyers call "real evidence" from verbal evidence is to ignore the reasons for excluding coerced confessions. Use of involuntary verbal confessions in State criminal trials is constitutionally obnoxious not only because of their unreliability. They are inadmissible under the Due Process Clause even though statements contained in them may be independently established as true. Coerced confessions offend the community's sense of fair play and decency. So here, to sanction the brutal conduct which naturally enough was condemned by the court whose judgment is before us, would be to afford brutality the cloak of law. Nothing would be more calculated to discredit law and thereby to brutalize the temper of a society.

Id., 173-174.

"The aim of the requirement of due process is not to exclude presumptively false evidence, but to prevent fundamental unfairness in the use

of evidence, whether true or false." Colorado v. Connelly, 479 U.S. 157, 167 (1986) (quoting Lisenba v. California, 314 U.S. 219, 236 (1941)). Rochin and its progeny thus reveal the Court's continuing vigilance in ensuring that the "Due Process Clause imposes limitations on the government's ability to coerce individuals into participating in criminal prosecutions." Doe v. United States, 487 U.S. 201, 214 n. 13 (1988).

The government did not cite a compelling government interest or exigency that motivated the officers to engage in the practices at issue. There was plenty of time and numerous opportunities for the officers to pause, consider their course of conduct and evaluate their options. They were not engaged in hot pursuit or alone on a deserted highway making split second decisions regarding how to proceed without knowing whether the person they were confronting was armed or otherwise dangerous. To the contrary, all of these activities took place in the confines of a hospital in which Wall walked into at an officer's instruction.

Consider Officer Jeffrey Stumpf's ("Officer Stumpf") below testimony:

Q: And you -- were you the one that was restraining his right arm?

A: I wasn't restraining it. I was trying to get it out.

Q: And how were you trying to get it out?

A: I had ahold of it by the upper arm.

Q: Were you just pulling it out or –

A: I was trying to pull it out, yes. I wasn't exerting any unnecessary force, no. I was just trying to ease it out.

Q: And the reason why you weren't trying to jerk it out is because you were concerned about hurting Mr. Wall?

A: Yes.

(R. 75 at 55:19-56:7.) Officer Stumpf was the only officer trained on the restraint chair used. (*Id.* at 10:23-25, 21:20-22, 54:17-55:6.) Officer Stumpf's training and experience led him to conclude that it would be unreasonable to forcibly pull on Wall's arm to obtain a blood sample. (*Id.* at 55:19-56:7.) Officer Stumpf also had familiarity with the mandibular compression hold technique. (*Id.* at 56:18-19.) Using his training and experience, Officer Stumpf did not apply the technique to Wall because it was unreasonable under the circumstances. (*Id.* at 55:19-56:7.)

Officer Bagnall, by contrast, testified that the mandibular hold was part of his training for "defensive activities." (*Id.*, 35:22-36:5.) Officer Bagnall was not, however, presented with a person that was resisting or fighting with him. And prior to applying the mandibular hold, Officer Bagnall testified that Wall was fully restrained in a chair. (*Id.*, 41:13-15.) So use of defensive tactics was plainly unreasonable.

Although the officers were obviously eager to obtain evidence of a crime, this motivation presumably exists in every police investigation. Wall was not a known trafficker of drugs which law enforcement had finally seized as the culmination of a lengthy and resource intensive investigation. He was, instead, a suspicious driver in a suspicious vehicle which had been stopped for a traffic

violation. Moreover, the officers' activities in this case were not narrowly tailored to the objective they sought to achieve. *Glucksberg*, 521 U.S. at 720-21 (explaining the "features" of substantive due process are "that the Due Process Clause specially protects those fundamental rights and liberties . . . implicit in the concept of ordered liberty, such that neither liberty nor justice would exist if they were sacrificed" and that the government cannot infringe thereon "unless the infringement is narrowly tailored to serve a compelling state interest") (internal citations and quotation marks omitted).

In urging this narrow conclusion based upon the unique facts presented in this case, Wall asks this Court to give force to the Constitution's "assur[ance]... that no man is to be convicted on unconstitutional evidence." *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643, 657 (1961). A contrary conclusion would "minimize the important and fundamental nature of the individual's right to liberty," *Foucha v. Louisiana*, 504 U.S. 71, 80 (1992) (internal quotation marks omitted), and endorse an abuse of police power fundamentally at odds with our system of criminal justice, violate the principle that "convictions cannot be brought about by methods that offend 'a sense of justice," *Rochin*, 342 U.S. at 173 (quoting *Brown v. Mississippi*, 297 U.S. 278, 285-86 (1936)), and tacitly approve of law enforcement's use of deceptive and coercive practices that violate the Constitution and that are rife with the potential for further and even more egregious abuse.

CONCLUSION

The circuit court's order denying Wall's motion to suppress the blood evidence should be reversed.