RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

03-09-2018

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSINLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT IV OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2017 AP002367-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

٧.

KEITH A. WALL,

Defendant-Appellant,

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-- RESPONDENT

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR COLUMBIA COUNTY CASE NO. 2013CT000125, THE HONORABLE TODD J. HEPLER PRESIDING

Respectfully submitted,

State of Wisconsin, Plaintiff-Respondent Columbia County District Attorney Attorney for the Plaintiff 400 Dewitt Street Portage, WI 53901 (608) 742-9650

BY: TROY D. CROSS

Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1026116

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

THIS CASE AND THAT THE OFFICERS DID NOT
USE EXCESSIVE FORCE IN THIS CASE, WERE NOT
CLEARLY ERRONEOUS AND SHOULD NOT BE
OVERTURNED BY THIS COURT

The Respondent believes that the Standard of Review for this Court on the questions presented is that it is a clearly erroneous standard. The facts in this case are essentially undisputed. The defendant, Keith Wall was stopped on a roadway in Columbia County at about 10:30 p.m. on March 22, 2013, and then arrest for operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant, by Deputy Miller of the Columbia County Sheriff's Office. (R. 74; p. 5-6). Mr. Wall was then taken to the Divine Savior Hospital where they arrived at about 11:00 p.m. (R. 74; p. 7). Mr. Wall was read the Informing the Accused form and he refused to consent to the blood draw. (R. 74; p. 7-8).

¹ II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

^{123 ¶ 13} The application of constitutional principles to a particular case is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Pallone*, 2000 WI 77, ¶ 26, 236 Wis. 2d 162, 613 N.W.2d 568. We accept the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.*, ¶ 27. The application of constitutional principles to those facts is a question of law that we review *de novo. Id. State v. Dearborn*, 2010 WI 84, ¶¶ 12-13, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 261, 786 N.W.2d 97, 102.

After Mr. Wall refused, and made some other comments, Deputy Miller requested assistance from the Portage Police Department. (R. 74; p. 9). Officers Bagnall and Stumpf arrived to assist within about five minutes. (R. 74; p. 9-10). Deputy Miller retrieved the restraint chair so that the forced blood draw could occur. (R. 74; p. 10). Mr. Wall was placed into the restraint chair while he was still in handcuffs and strapped into it. (R. 74; p. 12). Mr. Wall had his hands cuffed behind his back, so one of the cuffs was removed so that his arm could be moved to his front so that the blood draw could take place. (R. 74; p. 12-13). Mr. Wall would not allow the officers to move his arm from his back to his front. (R. 74; p. 13-15).

Officer Bagnall testified that he noticed that Mr. Wall was not complying with the request to move his arm from behind his back so that the blood could be taken. (R. 74; p. 31). Officer Bagnall stated that Mr. Wall was told to stop resisting and when he didn't stop, Officer Bagnall used a mandibular compliance hold in order to get Mr. Wall to comply. (R. 74; p. 31-32). Officer Bagnall continued with the hold until Mr. Wall complied and his arm was taken from his back to his front. (R. 74; p. 32-33).

The Trial Court denied the defendant's motions, after it heard the testimony in this case, in an oral ruling on December 3, 2013. (R. 75). Because the Trial Court's findings in this case are not clearly erroneous, this Court should not overturn them. The

Plaintiff-Respondent asks that this Court deny the Defendant-Appellant's motions based upon the facts of this case and the existing case law in the state of Wisconsin.

IV. ARGUMENT

The Appellant argues that the Trial Court's reliance on the *Bohling* is somehow flawed in asserting that the police officers in this case were reasonably relying on it when they performed this blood draw. (Defendant-Appellant's brief, filed 2/16/18, at pages 6-7). The Appellant seems to argue that the holding in the *Bohling* case was modified by the *Faust* case. (*Id.*). The Respondent disagrees with this assertion. The Wisconsin Supreme Court in this case held that:

¶ 34 In sum, we reaffirm that the rapid dissipation of alcohol in the bloodstream of **384 an individual arrested for a drunk driving related offense exigency that justifies constitutes an warrantless nonconsensual test of that individual's blood, breath, or urine, so long as the test satisfies the four factors enumerated in Bohling. The presence of one presumptively valid chemical sample of the defendant's breath does not extinguish the exigent circumstances justifying a warrantless blood draw. The nature of the evidence sought-that is, the rapid dissipation of alcohol from the bloodstream-not the existence of other evidence, determines the exigency. Because exigent circumstances were present in this case and the blood test satisfied the test we set forth in Bohling, we reverse the decision of the court of appeals. State v. Faust, 2004 WI 99, ¶¶ 33-34, 274 Wis. 2d 183, 208, 682 N.W.2d 371, 383-84.

It is the Respondent's position that the holding in *Faust* simply reaffirmed the holding in *Bohling*. This reaffirmation by the Wisconsin Supreme Court only bolsters the Respondent's argument that the officers in this case were reasonably relying upon the state of the law as it was at the time of this incident, as it was spelled out over multiple cases by the Wisconsin Supreme Court.

The Appellant also seems to argue that the *Faust* Court somehow ruled that further testing, after certain evidence was obtained, was unreasonable. (Defendant-Appellant's brief, filed 2/16/18, p. 7).

The facts of this case show that the forced blood draw was unreasonable under *Faust*. Prior to forcibly taking Wall's blood, Deputy Miller had obtained evidence of Wall's alleged impairment through various field sobriety tests and a breath test. (*Id.*, 18:13-24.); see *Faust*, 2004 WI 99. Para. 32 (further testing may be unreasonable);

This assertion by the Appellant, appears to be contrary to the actual holding by the State Supreme Court in the *Faust* case. In addition, even if the *Faust* Court had held as the Appellant seems to suggest that it did, the facts in that case are completely different from the facts in Mr. Wall's case. In the *Faust* case, the police had actually obtained a breath sample that could have been used in the defendant's trial.² In Mr. Wall's

_

² Officer Olsen placed Faust under arrest and transported him to police headquarters. Upon arriving, Faust consented to provide a sample of his breath for chemical analysis. The results of the breathalyzer indicated that Faust possessed an alcohol concentration of 0.09 grams of alcohol per 210 liters of breath

case, there was not any breath test sample that could have been used at a trial. The Appellant argued that Deputy Miller had obtained "evidence of Wall's alleged impairment through various field sobriety tests and a breath test." (Defendant-Appellant's brief, p. 7).

The Respondent will agree that there was some evidence of Mr. Wall's impairment that Deputy Miller had observed through the field sobriety tests, however, there was no evidence obtained by Deputy Miller of any breath test. In fact, Mr. Wall would not provide a sufficient sample for the PBT to register. "A PBT was requested, but Mr. Wall would not provide a sufficient breath sample for a reading." (R. 1; p.3 from the criminal complaint).

It is clear that the *McNeely* decision changed the law in the State of Wisconsin when it comes to blood draws in operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant cases. It is equally clear that the *McNeely* decision had not come down at the time of this incident. The Trial Court made the correct decision when it declined to use the exclusionary rule in this case because the officers were acting in good faith regarding the established law at the time. (R. 75). The Trial Court correctly applied the *Dearborn* case in this situation.

However, we decline to apply the remedy of exclusion for the constitutional violation. We hold that the good faith exception precludes application

State v. Faust, 2004 WI 99, ¶ 5, 274 Wis. 2d 183, 189, 682 N.W.2d 371, 374.

of the exclusionary rule where officers conduct a search in *278 objectively reasonable reliance upon clear and settled Wisconsin precedent that is later deemed unconstitutional by the United States Supreme Court. Accordingly, we affirm the court of appeals and uphold Dearborn's conviction. *State v. Dearborn*, 2010 WI 84, ¶ 51, 327 Wis. 2d 252, 277–78, 786 N.W.2d 97, 110.

The Appellant next argues that this Court should still exclude the blood evidence in this case because it was obtained under a violent police encounter. (Defendant-Appellant's brief; p. 1). The Appellant has tried to analogize this case with that of that of the *Rochin v. California*³ case. The facts of these cases are completely different.

It is the Respondent's position that the case that the Trial Court relied upon for this issue,

_

³ Having 'some information that (the petitioner here) was selling narcotics,' three deputy sheriffs of the County of Los Angeles, on the morning of July 1, 1949, made for the two-story dwelling house in which Rochin lived with his mother, common-law wife, brothers and sisters. Finding the outside door open, they entered and then forced open the door to Rochin's room on the second floor. Inside they found petitioner sitting partly dressed on the side of the bed, upon which his wife was lying. On a 'night stand' beside the bed the deputies spied two capsules. When asked 'Whose stuff is this?' Rochin seized the capsules and put them in his mouth. A struggle ensued, in the course of which the three officers 'jumped upon him' and attempted to extract the capsules. The force they applied proved unavailing against Rochin's resistance. He was handcuffed and taken to a hospital. At the direction of one of the officers a doctor forced an emetic solution through a tube into Rochin's stomach against his will. This 'stomach pumping' produced vomiting. In the vomited matter were found two capsules which proved to contain morphine. Rochin v. California, 342 U.S. 165, 166, 72 S. Ct. 205, 206, 96 L. Ed. 183 (1952).

State v. Krause⁴, is much more on point in its facts than that of the Rochin case. The Wisconsin Court of

⁴ Officer Dornfeld arrested Krause for OAR and OWI, placed him in the back of **349 the police car, and began to transport him to the sheriff's department where a breathalyzer test would be done. En route, Krause became unruly and began spitting at the officer through the wire "cage" behind the front seat and kicking at the doors and windows. The officer stopped the car twice to try to put a seat belt on Krause but was unsuccessful, despite the aid of a back-up officer. After a third attempt, the officers "hog-tied" Krause and put him on the rear floor of the car. The trial court found, consistent with Krause's testimony, that the officer put a burlap

bag over Krause's head because Krause continued to spit at him.

Officer Dornfeld then decided to take Krause to the hospital instead of the station because he believed a blood test would yield a more accurate measurement of Krause's BAC than would a breath test. The officer's decision also was based on (1) his belief that Krause's BAC was likely above 0.20% and the jail had a policy requiring arrestees with BACs over 0.20% to receive medical clearance before being jailed; and (2) his learning that Krause had at least three prior OWI convictions and there was a memo from the district attorney's office instructing officers making an arrest for a third or subsequent alcohol offense to obtain a blood sample from the arrestee. Officer Dornfeld did not seek a warrant because he believed it would take several hours to get a warrant *585 which would render the blood test meaningless.²

When Krause learned that a blood test was to be drawn, he became even more upset, stating that he "d[id]n't believe in needles" and that he did not want to get AIDS. At the hospital, Officer Dornfeld read Krause the "Informing the Accused" form. Krause adamantly refused to submit to a blood test, shouted vulgarities, and continued to spit and be unruly. Officer Dornfeld and at least two other officers placed a pillowcase over Krause's head, tied his feet down and held his arms while a medical technician drew blood from Krause. Krause struggled throughout the procedure. He testified: "I was fighting, moving my arm back and forth so she [the technician] couldn't do it [draw the blood]." His struggling and the officers' attempts to restrain him caused the needle to injure his arm. Krause also testified that an officer twisted his head so he could not see what was going on, causing him to break a tooth and bite his lip or tongue. He continued to spit and at that point was spitting blood at the officers and medical personnel. After the blood was drawn, Krause was taken to the jail where he submitted to a breathalyzer test. Ultimately, the blood test showed a BAC of 0.26%. State v. Krause, 168 Wis. 2d 578, 584–85, 484 N.W.2d 347, 348–49 (Ct. App. 1992).

Appeals, in a decision that was filed on April 1, 1992, upheld the warrantless blood draw that took place in the *Krause* case. This opinion has not been overruled by any court at this time. It is clear that the police had to use more force against Mr. Krause, than was used in Mr. Wall's case. Therefore, it is equally clear that the Trial Court made the correct decision when it chose to deny the Appellant's motion to suppress the blood test results in this case.

V. CONCLUSION

It is the Plaintiff-Respondent's position that, under the facts of this case, the Trial Court ruled correctly that because of the *McNeely* decision, the officers should have obtained a search warrant prior to having Mr. Wall's blood taken. The Trial Court also correctly held that the exclusionary rule should not be applied in this case because the officers were relying on the well-established case law that was in place at the time of the incident. And, the Trial Court was correct in that the method that the officers used in this case to obtain Mr. Wall's blood sample, did not "shock the conscience" as was the case in the *Rochin* case. But,

_

⁵ This is conduct that shocks the conscience. Illegally breaking into the privacy of the petitioner, the struggle to open his mouth and remove what was there, the forcible extraction of his stomach's contents—this course of proceeding by agents **210 of government to obtain evidence is bound to offend even hardened

the officer's actions in this case were in line with the officers in the *Krause* case and therefore, the evidence should not be suppressed.

Given the facts of this case, the Trial Court was absolutely correct in its ruling denying each of the Appellant's motions. Because the Trial Court was correct in its ruling, the Plaintiff-Respondent asks that this Court uphold the Trial Court's decision and deny the Appellant's appeal.